STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 07 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SHANE ISAAC JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000873

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in denying the motion for an independent evaluation of a minor child with autism, where the child had difficulty recalling certain events and was unable to commit to telling the truth?

- II. Did the trial court err in allowing the State to call an expert witness, where the State withheld the expert's CV and thereby committed violations under Rule 5, SCRCrim and Brady v. Maryland¹, where Appellant had no notice of the purpose for which the expert was going to be called.

- III. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's motions for a mistrial, where the State's expert witness testified without proof that Appellant burned a minor child as a form of discipline, where a curative instruction was subsequently provided, and where the State again mentioned the word discipline?

- IV. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict, where the State failed to prove that Appellant had the applicable state of mind, and where no evidence was offered proving that Appellant intended to burn the minor child?

¹ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963)

- V. Did the trial court err in admitting cumulative photographs depicting a minor child's burns, where the photographs were duplicative of other photographs and only showed the injuries from a slightly different angle?
- VI. Did the trial court err in charging the jury, where the court neither charged accident nor the correct *mens rea* requirement under the great bodily injury statute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for inflicting great bodily injury upon a child under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-95(A) by a Richland County Grand Jury on or about December 15, 2015. R. 676. The State, represented by Kathryn Luck Campbell, Lamar J. Fyall, and Nicole M. Simpson, called the case for trial on April 3, 2016 before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury. R. 91. Robert Louis Bank, Tracy E. Pinnock, and Jessica E. Sturgill represented Appellant. After a five-day trial, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 653, ll. 14 – 19. Judge McMahon sentenced Appellant to twenty years' incarceration. R. 665, ll. 12 – 19.

This brief follows.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Competency

“Qualification of a witness is within the trial judge’s discretion and his ruling will be reversed only for an abuse thereof.” State v. Hudnall, 293 S.C. 97, 99, 359 S.E.2d 59, 61 (1987), overruled on other grounds by State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993).

Brady v. Maryland

The trial court “abuses its discretion when it commits a legal error in determining whether a Brady violation occurred; we therefore review the district court’s Brady ruling de novo.” United States v. Parker, 790 F.3d 550, 558 (4th Cir. 2015). In conducting its de novo review, the appellate court reviews a trial judge’s factual findings for clear error. Id.

Mistrial

A trial judge's decision denying a mistrial will be reversed on appeal if the denial amounts to an abuse of discretion. State v. Rowlands, 343 S.C. 454, 458, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct. App. 2000). “Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge.” Id. at 457–58, 539 S.E.2d at 719 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Although the decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, the appellate court must reverse the ruling if the decision was an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 257, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 495, 692 S.E.2d 560, 563 (Ct. App. 2010).

Directed Verdict

“A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial ‘if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). “Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” Id. “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. “On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 777; see also State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court’s denial of the directed verdict motion. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 416, 429 S.E.2d at 409.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 525, 608 S.E.2d 435, 438 (Ct. App. 2004). Appellate courts are bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 454, 527 S.E.2d 105, 111 (2000); State v. Williams, 326 S.C. 130, 135, 485 S.E.2d 99, 102 (1997); State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 224, 625 S.E.2d 239, 241 (Ct. App. 2006); State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 101, 606 S.E.2d 503, 505 (Ct. App. 2004).

Evidence Admissibility

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 77, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. App. 2000); State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 228, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999). Evidentiary rulings of the trial court will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant. Mansfield, 343 S.C. at 77, 538 S.E.2d at 263.

Jury Charges

“It is well-settled the law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial, and if any evidence exists to support a charge, it should be given.” State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999). “The trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence.” Id.

“In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id.

ARGUMENT

On October 7, 2015, Keith Williamson, an officer with the City of Columbia Police Department, pulled over a dark blue van on Farrow Road for allegedly exceeding the speed limit. R. 131, ll. 6 – 24. After being advised that there was an injured child in the van, Williamson provided an escort to the hospital. R. 132 ll. 3 – 22. At the hospital, Williamson observed a male passenger get out of the van and carry a child in a blanket into the emergency room. R. 132 l. 25 – R. 133 l. 10. The driver of the van was Appellant's brother, Bruce Gibbs. R. 137, l. 5 – R. 439 l. 3.

After arriving at the hospital, Mary Smith, a registered nurse, assessed the extent of the child's injuries and recommended that the child be transferred to the burn center in Augusta. R. 123 ll. 18 – 23. Prior to that transfer, however, the child allegedly pointed at Appellant, the man who had carried the child into the hospital, and said "[h]e did this to me." R. 127 ll. 20 – 23.

Don Timmons, an officer with the City of Columbia Police Department, arrived at the hospital following the arrival of a burned child. R. 116, ll. 3 – 12. Timmons observed Appellant and the child's mother, Kristin Campbell. R. 117 ll. 5 – 21. His involvement in this matter was limited to the hospital visit; the case was turned over to the investigative department soon thereafter. Id.

Colin Bailey, an investigator with the City of Columbia Police Department, participated in an interview of Appellant with James Charley on October 12, 2015. R. 169 l. 11 – R. 171 l. 7. Two days later, Charley and Bailey obtained and executed a search warrant at the home where Appellant and the child had been living. R. 176 ll. 6 – 18. As part of the search warrant, law enforcement "was seeking to, amongst other things, to measure the temperature of the water in

the, in the shower.” Id. Charley directed Bailey to “do what [he] could to measure the temperature of the water in [the] shower.” R. 189 ll. 13 – 19.

Bailey admitted that neither he nor Charley had ever done a water temperature measurement or “worked a case quite like this involving temperatures of water.” R. 192 ll. 3 – 11. Using personal thermometers from his home, Bailey measures the temperatures that the water heater was “capable of producing.” R. 192 ll. 3 – 9; R. 192 10 – 25. Bailey admitted that the temperature fluctuated, and he was unaware of anyone calling the manufacturer or dealer for the hot water heater to obtain specific details. R. 195, ll. 21 – 25; R. 204, l. 17 – R. 205 l. 6. He did not consult with an expert, and he acknowledged that this “[was not] the most scientific approach [he] could have taken to, to measure the temperature of the water.” R. 206 l. 25 – R. 207 l. 7.

While testing the water temperatures, Bailey wore gloves. R. 206 ll. 5 – 8. He did not observe any burns on any of the adults’ hands during his investigations. R. 208 ll. 8 – 10.

Appellant was interviewed a second time on or about October 19, 2015. R. 536, l. 4 – 21. Following the interview of Appellant, he was arrested. R. 541, ll. 10 – 20.

A three-day pre-trial hearing was held in March 2017 before Judge McMahon regarding the potential evaluation of the minor child. Hearing Transcript 1. Luck Campbell served as the Assistant Solicitor, and Robert Bank represented Appellant. Id. The trial court heard testimony from Dr. Jessie Raven and Heather Smith, two expert witnesses. At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court ruled that an evaluation of the minor would not assist the court in the determination of competency of the witness. R. 68, ll. 4 – 14.

Discussion

I. The trial court erred in denying the motion for an independent evaluation of a minor child with autism, where the child had difficulty recalling certain events and was unable to commit to telling the truth.

At the pre-trial hearing, Dr. Jessie Raven, who had previously been retained by the Solicitor's Office in Beaufort County, was qualified as an expert in forensic and child psychiatry. R. 6, l. 20 – 7, l. 3. Previously, he had been asked by defense counsel to review records in this matter, including records of the minor child who “has a history of autism spectrum disorder.” R. 7, ll. 5 – 9. Dr. Raven reviewed the child's pediatric records, records from independent resources, and discovery records provided by defense counsel. R. 7, ll. 12 – 19.

Dr. Raven discussed concerns regarding the competency of the minor child. R. 8, ll. 14 – 18. However, Dr. Raven did not outright opine whether the child was competent; he simply suggested, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that it would be beneficial to have the child evaluated “by someone specifically trained in autism” to ensure that the child is competent. R. 8, l. 19 – 9, ll. 23. Specifically, he offered some background in autism:

My concern is that individuals with autism spectrum disorder sometimes appear to be more competent than they actually are. Oftentimes if someone is at a higher end of functioning they can articulate their words very well and communicate what their thoughts are pretty well but because of the autism spectrum disorder they may be interpreting facts - - they may have difficulty interpreting facts.

They may have difficulty putting facts together in a way that is meaningful. They may appear to be answering yes to a question or even telling what a lie is or the truth is but not be able to have more meaningful communication about it.

R. 9, l. 17 – 10, l. 3.

Dr. Raven repeatedly opined that it was important to have the minor child evaluated. R. 12, l. 9 – 14, l. 13. He suggested an interview evaluation, which would be non-invasive. R. 14,

ll. 3 – 13. He reiterated his opinion, namely “that there is not enough information” to indicate competence one way or the other. R. 17, ll. 19 – 25; R. 20, l. 18 – 21, l. 4; R. 20, l. 13 – 33, l. 8.

Heather Smith, a forensic evaluator and human services worker, admitted that the minor child did not initially promise to tell the truth. R. 45, ll. 1 – 9. She justified the response by suggesting that the child did not want to talk in the first place. Id.

Defense counsel handed the trial court a memorandum in support of its motion. R. 47, ll. 3 – 9. R. 71 Further discussion included detailed argument from defense counsel. R. 51, l. 4 – 55, l. 23. Counsel pointed out the minor child’s Individualized Education Program (“IEP”) which indicated that the child had “difficulty with retelling stories.” R. 59, l. 8 – 61, l. 6; R. 7

At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court ruled:

I think in this case it would be more inherently intrusive, the examination of a young person who is also an alleged victim of such an event in ... life. More intrusive rather than less intrusive, and I believe it would have some emotional effect on the victim, such an examination.

The probative value of the examination is not an issue before the Court as to whether or not there should be a psychological evaluation. Right now the only issue before the Court is whether there should be a psychological evaluation of the child to assist the Court in the determination of competency of the witness.

...

So at this point, not having heard nor seen the victim, I would find that there is sufficient power in cross-examination if the victim were found competent. This is a pre-trial ruling that there be no psychiatric examination of the victim at this time.

R. 62, l. 7 – 69, l. 23.

Defense counsel renewed the motion after the jury was selected in Appellant’s trial. R. 110, ll. 5 – 16. The trial court heard proffered testimony from the minor child. R. 248 – 259. The child answered in the affirmative when asked about the ability to say “I don’t know” when

he did not know the answer to a question but was unable to put that theory into practice initially when asked ages of counsel and a gentleman in the courtroom. R. 257, l. 3 – R. 259, l. 19.

Following the proffered testimony, defense counsel renewed the motion for a private evaluation. R. 260, l. 23 – R. 263, l. 11. The trial court denied the motion and pointed out that the child was able to appreciate the difference between the truth and a lie. R. 263, l. 17 – R. 268, l. 25.

The minor child initially struggled to recall the underlying incident before the jury. R. 271, ll. 19 – 21. He also had a difficult time remembering the prior interview with Heather Smith and the events allegedly giving rise to his burns. R. 275, l. 21 – R. 276, l. 25.

“Every person is competent to be a witness except as otherwise provided by statute” or the Rules of Evidence. SCRE 601(a). “A person is disqualified to be a witness if the court determines that (1) the proposed witness is incapable of expressing himself concerning the matter as to be understood by the judge and jury either directly or through interpretation by one who can understand him, or (2) the proposed witness is incapable of understanding the duty of a witness to tell the truth.” SCRE 601(b).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has outlined relevant factors for determining a witness’s competency, to include the requirements that “a witness must have the ability (1) to perceive the event with a substantial degree of accuracy, (2) remember it, (3) communicate about it intelligibly, and (4) be mindful of the duty to tell the truth under oath.” State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 143 (1998) (citing Commonwealth v. Goldblum, 498 Pa. 455, 465 (Pa. 1982)).

As correctly articulated in the memorandum submitted by defense counsel, the trial court has authority through In re Michael H. to order an independent psychological evaluation in order to protect a defendant’s right to a fair trial, the right to confront his accuser, and to “ensure the

truth of a matter is brought to light and justice to all parties before the court is served.” 360 S.C. 540, 602, S.E.2d 729, 733 (2004). The Court adopted the Delaney²factors:

(1) the nature of the examination requested and the intrusiveness inherent in that examination; (2) the victim's age; (3) the resulting physical and/or emotional effects of the examination on the victim; (4) the probative value of the examination to the issue before the court; (5) the remoteness in time of the examination to the alleged criminal act; and (6) the evidence already available for the defendant's use.

In re Michael H., 360 S.C. 540, 547, 602 S.E.2d 729, 732-3 (2004) (citing State v. Delaney, 417 S.E.2d 903, 907 (W. Va. 1992)).

All six factors are satisfied in Appellant’s case, and the trial court therefore should have ordered an independent evaluation for competency.

Dr. Raven testified that an evaluation would be non-intrusive. The minor child in Appellant’s case did not differ significantly from the child in Michael H. Once more, the expert offered by defense counsel opined that an evaluation would not be physical. The probative value of the examination was exceedingly high; the evaluation was absolutely necessary to protect the due process and fairness rights of Appellant. The timeline for the evaluation would have been shorter than in Michael H., thereby satisfying the fifth factor as well. Lastly, there were not sufficient resources available for the use by Appellant and his counsel.

II. The trial court erred in allowing the State to call an expert witness, where the State withheld the expert’s CV and thereby committed violation under Rule

² State v. Delaney, 417 S.E.2d 903 (W. Va. 1992).

5, SCRCrim and Brady v. Maryland³, where Appellant had no notice of the purpose for which the expert was going to be called.

Following the testimony of a crime scene investigator, Brian Sutton, defense counsel objected to the State calling an expert witness, Dr. Susan Lamb. R. 285. At this stage of trial, defense counsel had not yet even been provided Dr. Lamb's *curriculum vitae*. Counsel for Appellant received a medical report approximately fifteen minutes prior to voicing an objection. Notably, however, the State withheld the CV for Dr. Lamb. Defense counsel advised the trial court that there was a complete lack of notice:

We asked for the CV's of all the state's potential experts before the trial started. We've been provided nothing, which is why we have no notice as to what would be testified. Your Honor, we would object to her testifying for, for any purpose for this trial. We believe it would - - it is a Rule 5 Brady violation.

R. 293, l. 11 – R. 286, l. 2.

The State argued that at a prior discovery meeting, defense counsel “indicated they had” received the medical report and a medical exam. R. 286 l. 10 – R. 287, l. 25. There was no mention of Dr. Lamb's CV during the State's response to the objection. Defense counsel differentiated between the State's contention that it had complied with the rules and the standard:

I'm unaware of where in the rule it says that we are responsible for asking for every single piece of information that could exist in their file. We did sit down with [the Assistant Solicitor] and go through their file. I made a handwritten list at that point of all the items that we were missing, and [the] medical exam was never brought up. We told her that we had the ARC report, which we did get the ARC report. It's a three-page report, Your Honor. That was provided to [defense counsel] on February 12, 2016. We have the receipt I can make a part of the court record that is the date that that information was turned over to us, but there was no mention of any medical report when we met. If it had been, a copy would have been made at that point.

³ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963)

We were just handed this information. Their own witness's testimony about the exam being done does not then absolve them of their responsibility to make sure we have that information.

So, Your Honor, the meeting happened. The medical report was not brought up. Now like I said, we're in a position where they're about to put a medical doctor on the stand, and I'm assuming again that they're going to attempt to qualify her as something, and we have no information, you know, until a few minutes ago about what this person would potentially testify about because - - based on the report we were, we were provided in court. So Your Honor, we would object to the entirety of the testimony.

R. 288, l. 4 – R. 289, l. 4.

Additional argument ensued wherein defense counsel made the discovery receipt a court's exhibit. R. 289, l. 12 – R. 291, l. 20. The trial court granted a continuance:

I've read the rules once. Under Rule 5(b)(e), I understand the continuing duty to disclose. Also under (b)(d)(2) if this were a failure to comply, and I'm not finding that specifically: The court may order such party to permit discovery or inspection.

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