STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-000873

---

THE STATE,

v.

SHANE ISAAC JOHNSON,

Appellant.

RECEIVED  
DEC 07 2018  
Respondent SC Court of Appeals

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

HEATHER S. WEISS  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803)-576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

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

"Every person is competent to be a witness except as otherwise provided by statute or these rules." Rule 601(a), SCRE. Courts presume a witness to be competent because bias or other defects in a witness's testimony — revealed primarily through cross examination — affect a witness's credibility and may be weighed by the factfinder. State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 142, 508 S.E.2d 857, 861 (1998). "A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter." Rule 602, SCRE. "A person is disqualified to be a witness if the court determines that (1) the proposed witness is incapable of expressing himself concerning the matter as to be understood by the judge and jury either directly or through interpretation by one who can understand him, or (2) the

proposed witness is incapable of understanding the duty of a witness to tell the truth." Rule 601(b), SCRE.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has stated the applicable rule for establishing competency as: The question of the competency of a witness is a question for the court, and not for the jury, and when a witness is offered in a criminal case, and doubt is raised as to the competency of such witness, it is the duty of the court to determine that question upon a careful examination of the witness as to age, capacity, and moral and legal accountability. State v. Pitts, 256 S.C. 420, 430, 182 S.E.2d 738, 743 (1971) (citing State v. Comstock, 70 S.E.2d 648 (W.Va. 1952).

In In re Michael H., the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a trial judge has the discretion to order the victim to submit to a psychological examination, finding that the trial judge should examine the following factors: (1) the nature of the examination requested and the intrusiveness inherent in that examination; (2) the victim's age; (3) the resulting physical and/or emotional effects of the examination on the victim; (4) the probative value of the examination to the issue before the court; (5) the remoteness in time of the examination to the alleged criminal act; and (6) the evidence already available for the defendant's use. In re Michael H., 360 S.C. 540, 547, 602 S.E.2d 729, 733 (2004) (citing State v. Delaney, 417 S.E.2d 903 (W.Va. 1992). Critically, a psychological evaluation of a child complainant should only be ordered upon the showing of a compelling need for such an evaluation. Michael H., 360 S.C. at 547-51, 417 S.E.2d at 733-35.

In Appellant's case, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in finding Victim competent because the extensive hearing into the matter was sufficient to establish Victim's competence and there was thus no compelling need to order an examination of Victim. The trial

judge expressly noted that, after hearing Victim's testimony, a psychological examination would be of no value to him in determining Victim's competency. The *voir dire* of Victim established he understood the difference between a truth and a lie, committed to telling the truth, provided details of the event, and the general questions about Victim's life asked by the solicitor and Defense Counsel were corroborated as true. Victim thus had personal knowledge of the events in the case and was able to communicate that knowledge, and was capable of understanding the duty of a witness to tell the truth. This is all that is required by the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. While Appellant emphasizes the fact that Victim only provided short answers, this is not an uncommon practice in children or adults who are nervous about testifying in court and has no bearing on their overall competency as a witness.

In examining the factors enumerated in Michael H., the trial judge's decision is supported by evidence in the record. First, the examination would be inherently intrusive, as it would force a child to recount painful memories and would make him feel like his veracity is being questioned just by virtue of him having been diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. As to the second factor, the victim's age, Victim was seven years old at the time of his injury and eight years old at the time of trial. However, "[t]here is no fixed age which an individual must obtain in order to be competent to testify as a witness." State v. Green, 267 S.C. 599, 603, 230 S.E.2d 618, 619. Victim's age did not affect any aspect of the proceeding such that would warrant a psychological evaluation. Oftentimes in a trial, the strongest and most important voices are those of children, and the mere fact that one is a child does not have any bearing on competency. As to the third factor, the resulting physical or emotional effect of the examination on the victim, it is self-evident that a psychiatric evaluation of an autistic child who suffered a horrific injury would take an emotional toll on Victim. As to the fourth factor, the probative value of the examination

to the issue before the court, the examination would have provided no further probative value, as the trial judge emphasized Victim's testimony alone was sufficient for him to find that Victim was competent to testify. An examination would not have assisted the court whatsoever. As to the fifth factor, the remoteness in time of the examination to the criminal act, nearly a year and a half elapsed between the crime and the request for a psychological examination. The lapse in time makes any examination more burdensome on the Victim and less probative for the trial judge. As to the sixth and final factor, the evidence already available for the defendant's use, the Victim was extensively *voir dire*d and subject to cross-examination by Defense Counsel as to his memory and ability to be truthful. The Victim's own testimony provided the best evidence of competency, and the examination would have been of no value. All of the above factors establish there was no compelling need for the trial judge to order a psychological evaluation.

Victim's ability to provide clear details of the crime to medical staff, the trial judge, and jury, as well as a clear account of who burned him, coupled with his ability to tell the truth, firmly established he was competent to testify at trial. Any perceived deficiencies in the Victim's ability to perceive events and communicate what happened were all matters which Defense Counsel could explore through cross-examination in order to try and impeach Victim's credibility. Appellant's argument aims to treat autistic children as a suspect class, and would impose a higher burden for establishing their competency to testify at trial. Simply put, Appellant believes autistic children cannot be taken at their word, and that a trial judge's discretion should not extend to determining whether these witnesses are competent to testify. This argument undermines the discretion of the trial judge and his ability to perceive witnesses. The careful hearing into the matter by the trial judge established that Victim met the threshold for competency to testify. See Green, 267 S.C. at 602-03, 230 S.E.2d at 619 (holding a six year old

eyewitness to shooting was competent to testify where, although he did have difficulty answering questions at times, he was aware of what he had observed and was capable of expressing those observations to the court and the jury); Needs, 333 S.C. at 143-44, 508 S.E.2d at 861 (finding trial judge did not abuse his discretion in finding a witness was competent to testify where, despite the fact that the witness made conflicting statements to police and previously admitted to perjury, the witness swore to tell the truth and had personal knowledge of the matter); State v. Spaniol, 895 N.W.2d 329 (S.D. 2017) (Five-year-old victim was competent to testify at father's rape trial despite the fact that she was autistic, had an imperfect memory, and made contradictory statements, because she possessed the ability to observe, recall facts from her life, and to communicate, and the victim showed a sufficient sense of moral responsibility by distinguishing truth from falsehood several times during her testimony); People v. Armenia, 630 N.Y.S.2d 784 (finding trial judge did not abuse its discretion in allowing a fifteen-year-old autistic, mildly retarded complainant to testify where the preliminary examination conducted by the trial judge adequately demonstrated he understood the nature of testifying under oath and was thus competent to be sworn as a witness) (N.Y. App. 1995). Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

## II.

**The trial judge properly allowed the State to call Dr. Susan Lamb as an expert witness where a miscommunication concerning whether Appellant had Dr. Lamb's CV and medical report did not result in a Brady violation, and the trial judge cured any inadvertent Rule 5 violation by ensuring the solicitor provided Defense Counsel with a copy of Dr. Lamb's CV and report and granted a one day continuance as to Dr. Lamb's testimony so that Defense Counsel would have time review the materials and prepare.**

### Relevant Facts

During a break during the State's case-in-chief, Defense Counsel argued:

It's our understanding, Judge, that the state is planning on calling a Dr. Lamb to testify. We were not provided anything on this witness. We've just received a copy of the medical report that was done at the Assessment Resource Center in November of 2015. We've got that just about fifteen minutes ago, twenty minutes ago. So, Your Honor, we would object to, first off, this witness testifying at all because we were not given any sort of notice about what they'd be called to testify to. As far as standing, she is a medical doctor. I can only assume they're going to be trying to qualify her as some sort of expert. We asked for the CVs of all the state's potential experts before the trial started. We've been provided nothing, which is why we have no notice as to what would be testified. Your Honor, we would object to her testifying for, for any purpose for this trial. We believe it would - - it is a Rule 5 Brady violation.

R. pp. 285-86. In response, the solicitor explained that a discovery meeting took place a week before trial where she and Defense Counsel went through the entirety of the discovery materials in the State's possession. R. p. 286. During the meeting, the solicitor went through the ARC report and Defense Counsel indicated they had those materials. R. p. 286. In response, Defense Counsel stated, "I'm unaware of where in the rule it says that we are responsible for asking for every single piece of information that could exist in their file." R. p. 288. Defense Counsel contended that, while they had the ARC report, they were not made aware of the existence of an accompanying medical report. R. p. 288.

The trial judge subsequently asked Defense Counsel whether she was in possession of Dr. Lamb's medical report, and Defense Counsel indicated that she was in possession of the report. R. p. 291. The trial judge then asked whether Defense Counsel had a copy of Dr. Lamb's CV and Defense Counsel indicated that she did not. R. p. 291. The solicitor apologized and stated that she recently provided Defense Counsel with a copy of Dr. Lamb's CV in another case, so she erroneously thought Defense Counsel had the CV in her possession. R. p. 291. The solicitor then provided Defense Counsel with a copy of Dr. Lamb's CV. R. p. 291. The trial judge stated he was aware of the State's continuing duty to disclose under Rule 5(c), SCRCrimP. The trial judge then ruled that, under Rule 5(d)(2), SCRCrimP:

if this were a failure to comply, and I'm not finding that specifically: The court may order such party to permit discovery or inspection. Discovery has now been permitted. All has been turned over that were not turned over previously to the defense. I'm granting a continuance as to Dr. Lamb's testimony. You may call Dr. Lamb either in the morning or late this afternoon, not now. That will give them the opportunity to review both her CV and the report.

R. pp. 291-92.

Prior to Dr. Lamb's testimony, Defense Counsel again objected to her testimony, arguing that the defense was still unaware of what kind of opinion she would be offering in the case. R. p. 372. Defense Counsel stated, "So, we would object firstly, first off because we have no information on what she'll be talking about. We do think it was a disclosure violation by the State initially." R. p. 373. In response, the solicitor indicated that Dr. Lamb's opinions are in the medical report that was disclosed to Appellant. R. p. 373. In addition, the solicitor noted Defense Counsel spoke to Dr. Lamb the previous day about her findings. R. p. 374. Defense Counsel conceded she approached, Dr. Lamb, stating, "I guess I did, I did stop Dr. Lamb in the hall, and I asked her what she had been qualified as in the past, and I asked her, you know, what are they going to, you know, what are they going to be asking you. She said I'm going to testify off my report." R. p. 375. Nevertheless, Defense Counsel argued that information was insufficient. R. p. 375.

### **Standard of Review**

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). "On appeal, the trial court's ruling will not be disturbed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." State v. Sheldon, 344 S.C. 340, 342, 543 S.E.2d 585, 585-586 (Ct. App. 2001). An abuse of discretion occurs where the trial court's conclusions lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 480, 688 S.E.2d 857, 861 (Ct. App. 2010).

## Discussion

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in allowing the State to call Dr. Lamb as an expert witness because the State withheld her CV and therefore violated Brady v., Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and Rule 5, SCRCrimP. Initially, Appellant's Brady argument is not preserved for appellate review where Appellant offered no substantive argument at trial. Further, there was no Brady violation in Appellant's case where Dr. Lamb's CV did not constitute evidence favorable to the accused, and the CV was not material to guilt or punishment. Also, regardless of whether the miscommunication between the parties about Dr. Lamb's medical report constituted a Rule 5 violation, the trial judge remedied the situation by ordering the solicitor to provide Defense Counsel with Dr. Lamb's medical report and CV, and continued Dr. Lamb's testimony until the following day so that Defense Counsel would have time to review the materials and prepare for Dr. Lamb's testimony. The trial judge thus created a just remedy under Rule 5 and there was no resulting prejudice to Appellant.

### Brady

As a threshold matter, Appellant's Brady argument is not preserved for appellate review. The issue of whether a Brady violation occurred was never raised to nor ruled upon by the trial judge. The only mention of Brady by Defense Counsel occurred when he stated that they believed the alleged discovery violation was, "A Rule 5 Brady Violation." R. p. 286. Defense Counsel provided no substantive argument as to Brady, and the trial judge's ruling was based solely on Rule 5. Appellant's Brady argument is thus not preserved for appellate review, because they have been raised for the first time in his Brief to this Court. The appellate court will not consider any issues or arguments that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial court, and an appellant is limited on appeal solely to the grounds raised during trial. State v. Fleming, 254

S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970); see State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”). See also State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 67, 697 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding a conclusory, unsupported argument was abandoned on appeal).

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